## 10

# Biologically Inspired Design: A Tool for Interdisciplinary Education

## Jeannette Yen and Marc J. Weissburg

Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, Georgia

**Michael Helms** 

Georgia Inst. Technology, Atlanta, GA

## Ashok K. Goel

Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, Georgia

## CONTENTS

10.1	Introduction	332
10.2	Course Overview	
	10.2.1 Course Components	335
	10.2.1.1 Domain Content Lectures	335
	10.2.1.2 Design Lectures	336
	10.2.1.3 Found Object Exercises	336
	10.2.1.4 Quantitative Assessments	336
	10.2.1.5 Analogy Exercises	337
	10.2.1.6 Research Assignments	337
	10.2.1.7 Interdisciplinary Collaboration	338
	10.2.1.8 Mentoring	339
	10.2.1.9 Idea Journals and Reflections	339
	10.2.2 Timeline/Course Flow	340
	10.2.2.1 Portfolio Design	342
	10.2.3 Evolution versus Design	342
	10.2.3.1 Evolution as a Design Process: Challenges and Opportunities	343
	10.2.3.2 Setting the Stage: Technological versus Natural "Solutions"	344
	10.2.4 Analogy Exercises	345
	10.2.4.1 Problem Decomposition	346
	10.2.4.2 Compound Analogies in BID	348
	10.2.4.3 Multifunctional Design and Problem-Driven versus Solution-	
	Based BID	348
10.3	Studying the BID Process—Lessons Learned	351
	10.3.1 Novel Techniques for Creativity	352
	10.3.2 Interdisciplinary Communication Skills	352
	10.3.3 Knowledge about Domains outside of Core Training	353

10.3.4 The Interdisciplinary Design Process	
10.3.5 Application of Knowledge across Domains	
10.4 Future Directions	
Acknowledgments	
References	

## **10.1 Introduction**

Biologically inspired design (BID) represents a powerful and logical bridge to multidisciplinary education. Biologists and other scientists implicitly understand general principles relevant to function and design. Both biologists and engineers face the problem of identifying design criteria, yet each approaches the problem from a unique perspective. Mixing upper level undergraduates majoring in engineering with those majoring in biology, we have devised a BID class that provides both increased content knowledge in areas relevant to BID as well as practical training in methods and techniques that facilitate the identification and translation of biological principles into solutions for human challenges. The output of the course is a conceptual design that incorporates biological principles into a device or process as well as an account of how the problem was analyzed to facilitate the search for useful biological principles. Although students do not have time to realize their design, the final project report must contain a detailed quantitative analysis of the relevant governing principles that points to the feasibility of the proposed solution. We see this class as a necessary first step in providing students with the skills required to use biological principles in design, which compliments field-specific techniques in the realization of such designs.

Our concerns in devising this course are related to both developing an approach that will facilitate BID and addressing concerns about the novelty and utility of current practices in science, technology, engineering, and math education (STEM). Thus, our learning goals for the class reflect perceived problems in STEM education generally and particularly the challenges of interdisciplinary STEM programs. The most persistent and common problems facing STEM education (Baldwin, 2009) are that: (1) the large lectures and emphasis on memorizing content make students passive learners; (2) the focus on test mastery results in little retention and comprehension; (3) a lack of grounding concepts in real-world applications that establish relevance; and (4) the "cookbook" as opposed to open-ended problem solving framework.

The connection between engineering and biology presented by BID as a problem solving activity provides an excellent atmosphere in which to encourage interdisciplinarity and develop sound pedagogical practices. To that end, we have incorporated elements from the field of cognitive science to understand potential pitfalls in our teaching approaches, evaluate the way students problem solve in our BID course, and evaluate the student designs. This has given us a unique and extremely valuable perspective on our pedagogical methods.

We focus this article on our five learning goals to implement education innovation and to contribute to STEM education using BID: (1) novel techniques for creative design; (2) interdisciplinary communication skills; (3) knowledge about domains outside of their core training; (4) a uniquely interdisciplinary collaborative process; and (5) application of existing technical knowledge to a new discipline. For each of these general goals, we defined a series of specific student skills and thinking processes (learning objectives) that represent definable outcomes that we can use to assess student progress (Table 10.1). We developed the

#### **TABLE 10.1**

Learning Goal	Course Objective	Course Element	Used In
Novel design techniques	Use analogical reasoning and problem decomposition to identify appropriate biological solutions	Analogical reasoning exercises, problem decomposition exercises	Design lectures, individual and team assignments to research and identify potential natural solutions, design project
Interdisciplinary communication	Describe and analyze biological and engineered system function	Problem decomposition exercises, quantitative analysis of biological and engineering systems, WWH description of biological systems	In-class quantitative assignment, found object exercises, interim and final project reports and presentations, final design portfolio
Knowledge outside core domain	Understand specific cases of biologically inspired design, including relevant biological and engineering principles	Lectures, discussion, and student research	Domain content lectures, design project
Interdisciplinary collaboration	Work effectively in an interdisciplinary team	In-class group work, team project	Analogy and found-object exercises, design project
Application of existing knowledge to a new field	Apply biological principles to an appropriate human challenge, use engineering analysis to describe biological systems	Quantitative analysis of biological and engineering systems, team project	Design project

General Learning Goals and Specific Learning Objectives for the BID Course, and the Respective BID Course Elements Used to Encourage Progress toward Those Goals

following course components to meet the key learning goals: BID lectures, design lectures, found object exercises, quantitative assessments, analogy exercises, research assignments, interdisciplinary collaboration, mentorship, and idea journals and reflections. Below, we describe our course components in overview and link them to our general learning goals and the specific course objectives. We also provide some detailed descriptions of areas that we find either particularly troublesome or approaches that seem essential for success. Because the knowledge content of any particular course in BID is likely determined by the specific area (e.g., biologically inspired robotics) or design challenge (e.g., energy efficient structures), our focus is more on the process level. That is, we believe it is more valuable to describe how we say things, and why we do so, rather than what we cover.

## **10.2 Course Overview**

The class is an honors-level undergraduate course, taught once a year, and is available to all third, fourth, and fifth year engineering, biology, and biomedical engineering majors. The 2009 class roster is typical of the course makeup, consisting of 15 biology students, 11 mechanical engineering students, 2 biomedical engineering students, 2 chemical engineering students, and 1 student each in material science;

mathematics; aerospace engineering; nuclear engineering; environmental engineering; electrical engineering; polymer, textile, and fiber engineering; and earth and atmospheric science. Table 10.2 shows how the class has changed over the past five offerings in terms of number of students as well as lessons learned and modifications tested in next offering.

The ratio of biologists to engineers is now approximately 3:5. Initial classes were more heavily engineering oriented (with a 1:4 biologist to engineer ratio), but we found this did not work as well for at least three reasons. First, it placed too much workload demand on the single biologist on each five person project team. Second, when engineers were the overwhelming majority, the classroom environment was pragmatic, critical, and generally quiet and restrained. Changing the class mix had an easily perceptible impact, increasing inter- and intrateam communication, in-class idea generation, and participation from

#### **TABLE 10.2**

	-				
1.	BID Class, Fall 2005	BID Class, Fall 2006	BID Class, Fall 2007	BID Class, Fall 2008	BID Class, Fall 2009
2. Students	12, 4 biologists	45, 10 biologists	45, 10 biologists	45, 20 biologists	40, 20 biologists
3. Assessment	Classroom observations	<i>In situ</i> cognitive study	In-class experiments, ME class experiments	Classroom observations	Analysis of final portfolios
4. Findings		Observations of design fixation and solution- versus problem- driven processes	Observations of: different representations among different groups; use of compound analogy; enhanced variation in designs	Student comments reflecting disbelief in real-world value of process, proof-of-concept experiment design requires new skills	Students express greater satisfaction with final designs; repeated practice embeds BID process
5. Changes	Initial seminar (two-credit) class, found objects, idea journals	Expanded to full three-credit course, full interdisciplinary cross listing, reduced duration of expert lectures to achieve balance between content and process education	Incorporated solution and problem- driven design process, SBF lecture, functional decomposition	Increased emphasis on ideation, changes to SBF language, analogy emphasis, restructured design project	Three design iterations to embed BID process and increase ideation; structured feasibility analysis to increase conceptual understanding and address perceived lack of real-world value

Evolution of Undergraduate BID Course, 2005–2009

*Note:* An upper level undergraduate class in BID has now been offered five times at Georgia Tech (row 1). The ratio of biologists increased (see row 2: total number of students, number of biologists). Assessment techniques (row 3) too evolved during the five-year evolution of course. Row 4 specifies some of the new findings as a result of formal and informal assessments, which led to structural changes in the course (row 5) such as balancing the class between lectures and design practice, improving cross-disciplinary interactions, and evaluating the value of class-formulated bioinspired designs. SBF, structure–behavior–function; ME, mechanical engineering; BID, biologically inspired design. Sections 10.2.4 and 10.3 discuss more fully the previously published results of these assessments, but a variety of other sections also indicate how our observations have been incorporated into the course pedagogy.

nonengineering students. Finally, as a result of a local academic culture that places engineers "higher in the pecking order" than biologists and other disciplines, the additional number of biologists provides heightened emphasis on the biologists' importance to the process and generated greater receptiveness to biological concepts.

## **10.2.1 Course Components**

Over the evolution of the BID course, we developed the following components to meet the learning objectives. We present a detailed time line in the next section, but the overall strategy of the course is to interleave domain content lectures with in-class exercises that allow students to practice their ability to describe the function of biological systems and translate these functional properties to potential human designs (analogy building, found object, and quantitative assignments). Domain lectures build from presentations of basic design theory to differences and commonalities of natural versus technological solutions to detailed content on specific areas of biologically inspired design.

## 10.2.1.1 Domain Content Lectures

Each year, practicing bioinspired designers are invited to discuss their current work within one class period (1/2 hours of talk, 20 minutes of discussion, 6–8 guests = 180–210 minutes total). Within this class time, these expert practioners: (a) examine the engineering principles of the biological organisms they studied; (b) demonstrate research principles for applying engineering techniques to understanding biological systems; and (c) illustrate the application of those principles to engineering design (French, 1994; Vogel, 1998), including the challenges of transferring those principles given existing technology. We have covered a variety of lecture topics over the five iterations of this course, including locomotion, biosensors, green chemistry, biomaterials, and complex systems, plus special topics from industry practitioners (Barthlott and Neihuis, 1997; Gosline et al., 1999; Geim et al., 2003; Nakrani and Tovey, 2004; Vogel, 2005; Autumn, 2006; Swanson et al., 2006; Bascompte et al., 2006; Goldman et al., 2006; Blackledge and Hayashi, 2006; Lee et al., 2007; Yen and Weissburg, 2007; Spagna et al., 2007; Muller et al., 2008). These lectures contain deep biology and engineering content specific to particular organisms, enhancing student domain knowledge, and providing examples of interdisciplinary communication and knowledge application (Project Kaleidoscope, 2004; Handelsman et al., 2004; DeHaan, 2005; Jacobsen and Wilensky, 2006).

Domain content lectures by local experts are universally appreciated by students, span a breadth of topics, and motivate the students by showing them real-world applications of the discipline. Although guest lecturers are briefed about the variety of student backgrounds and the requirement to integrate biology and engineering, experts tend to explore their topics assuming that students are prequalified in the appropriate discipline. This assumption sometimes results from unfamiliarity with the target audience but can also be the result of experts' perceptions about minimal knowledge requirements. Regardless, the end result is that either the engineers or the biologists among the students may not fully comprehend the material. In this way, each lecture presents an informal opportunity for students to bridge the gap between disciplines. It is left to individual students to direct their inquiry further, often relying on their design-team counterparts to gain a basic understanding. When encouraged, this increases the perceived value of their teammates as well as helps to emphasize that design teams collectively understand the underlying concepts covered in the lecture.

### 10.2.1.2 Design Lectures

Industrial design and design cognition experts teach the fundamental processes of BID (Pahl and Beitz, 1999; Ullman, 2003; Schild et al., 2004; Helms et al., 2009; Vattam et al., 2010a), brainstorming and ideation techniques (Dugosh et al., 2000), and problem decomposition and analogical reasoning (Mostow, 1989; Goel, 1997; Casakin and Goldschmidt, 1999; Nersessian, 1999, 2002; Goel and Bhatta, 2004). Typically, biologists have no design process training, and undergraduate engineers have little formal training, although they tend to have more experience. Furthermore, engineering students' experience before their senior design project tends to be with closed design problems, where answers involve the application of well-studied principles to well understood problems. In contrast, BID problems tend to be open ended and ill understood at the beginning. We devote roughly 45 to 90 minutes of class time to understanding the process of design during the initial phases of the course. This clearly is not enough for in-depth understanding, but it is sufficient to give the students minimal working knowledge of the path of the design process and how to begin.

#### 10.2.1.3 Found Object Exercises

In order for students to gain firsthand experience with the solutions nature provides, students are asked to investigate more closely different aspects of locally available biological systems using a what–why–how (WWH) framework (an analog to the structure–behavior– function framework; Goel and Stroulia, 1996; Prabhakar and Goel, 1998; Goel et al., 2009). Found object exercises provide students with a wide range of exposure to natural objects as well as an appreciation for the sophistication of solutions developed by everyday natural objects (Vogel, 1998; Ball, 2001; Vincent, 2002). Each exercise requires students to examine objects as representative of certain functions, thus for a given biological mechanism asking the questions "what are the relevant components of the system?" (structure), "why does the system require the mechanism?" (function), and "how do the components interact to execute the mechanism?" (behavior). The WWH analysis of the found object exercises are paired with expert lectures, such that students are asked to identify and analyze found objects that are related to upcoming expert lectures. For example, if the lecture is on biomaterials, students are asked to find and analyze, using the WWH technique, a local biological system with interesting material properties. This deepens the students' understanding of the expert lecture topic by providing living examples of the relevant concepts. The shared WWH framework facilitates interdisciplinary communication. The hands-on interaction provides unique learning experiences (students often conduct impromptu experiments on their objects, such as putting a pinecone in a 400° oven to see how it reacts to intense heat), encourages interdisciplinary interaction using multimodal representations (Vincent and Mann, 2002; Vincent, 2002; Chiu and Shu, 2005, 2007), and increases student engagement. In this hands-on experience, both biologists and engineers (particularly the latter) are forced to rethink prior conclusions about the diversity and usefulness of natural solutions as well as expanding their previous conceptions about the way certain functions are achieved. This reanalysis can be a spring board for future designs.

#### 10.2.1.4 Quantitative Assessments

Several lectures review quantitative analysis and provide examples to scaffold students for future quantitative homework assignments (two to three per semester), which in turn

scaffold students' ability to conduct quantitative analysis for their own projects. Students use standard quantitative engineering techniques homework in their assignments to evaluate biological systems such as spider silk and gecko adhesion (Arzt et al., 2003; Blackledge and Hayashi, 2006). Engineering students gain new appreciation for the operation of biological systems and learn techniques to address the challenge of quantifying nonmonolithic, complex, dynamic biological systems. Biologists learn the precise vocabulary and mathematical rigor necessary for engineering analysis. Both groups gain increased understanding of how to evaluate constraints in the system and the importance of those constraints in applying principles as solutions. This activity prepares students for the more extensive analysis such as material analysis, performance metrics, and environmental impact assessments, required as part of their design project.

#### 10.2.1.5 Analogy Exercises

Students practice making cross-domain analogies (Gross and Do, 1995; Zhao and Maher, 1988; Qian and Gero, 1996; Goel, 1997; Goel and Bhatta, 2004; Davies et al., 2009) and using the WWH framework and functional abstraction to understand how natural analogies can be applied to a given design problem as well as analyzing the analogy for potential inconsistencies. This occurs repeatedly during their design projects, formalized in a number of activities, both as individual and as team assignments. In one exercise, students receive a number of engineering design challenges and are asked to develop these as analogous questions in a biological context. Another occurs as part of the design project, where each student must present to their group at least three biological systems that they believe represent appropriate analogies to their problem before they develop their final design. The group then chooses the five most appropriate analogies as a beginning of their design process (see next section).

#### 10.2.1.6 Research Assignments

Students practice finding and understanding research papers written on topics pertinent to their design projects, focused either on deepening their understanding of the problem they are investigating or on enhancing their understanding of biological systems with functions that can be applied to their problem. This is the first time that most students, even senior engineering students, attempt a goal-directed search for, and understanding of, peer reviewed science literature. We introduce students to basic scientific databases and search engines and their operation. We discuss potentially valuable search strategies such as those based on model systems most likely to have solved a particular challenge (e.g., desert animals excel at water retention) and abstracting (e.g., from cooling to thermoregulation) or inverting functions (e.g., from water conservation to channeling excess water) to broaden the search space. These activities both reinforce and argue for the need to characterize appropriately and decompose/abstract the chosen problem. In addition, students have little or no experience translating from biological functions to their engineering analogs. This is a nontrivial problem because biologists and engineers often view function differently, which results in the use of different terminology for fundamentally similar processes. For instance, biologists often use context-dependent terms that relate to environment or the ecological value of a particular function rather than a more mechanistically precise term. Thus, observations or analysis of impact resistance of animal shells may be phrased in terms of "protection." This disjunction may limit the ability to find useful biological models, and although it is related to building appropriate analogies, it is a distinct and important enough problem that in our view requires discussion of useful strategies. Inevitably, students become frustrated when their searches yield either too little or too many results. Our observations suggest that students go directly to primary literature without surveying systematically the available options. Accordingly, we encourage students to consult high level general sources first and then "drill down" into the literature for more detailed analysis. This strategy seems to improve the students' understanding of the general processes and gives broader searches. It also helps identify key biological terms that may be associated with the particular function or problem under consideration. Chiu and Shu (2007) show the utility of a more formal strategy based on the same idea. We assign students the task of identifying several key papers in the beginning phase of each design iteration. The students first tell their team about their article, using the WWH format. In a team of five interdisciplinary students, each learns about 25 natural systems that could address the challenge. Then the team debates the pros and cons of their systems in an effort to narrow it down to the five best to present to the class. For the midterm, they need to tell the rest of the class (other seven teams) about their findings and justify their choice for the five best. In 2009, there were eight teams or 200 natural systems, and their usual traits were presented so other teams could pick up new ideas from this review. Outside facilitators attend and evaluate the teams to be sure they clearly present their challenge and define their problem by function. This can be one of the most exciting presentation days, as we hear about the special traits of so many natural systems and why certain ones solved or provided a partial solution or inspiration for the particular challenge.

#### 10.2.1.7 Interdisciplinary Collaboration

Students self-assemble into interdisciplinary teams based on common interest within the first few weeks of class, although instructors may modify team composition to ensure proper engineer/biologist balance. The team formation process strives to achieve diversity in discipline, gender, and ethnicity as well as common passions. This process starts off with arbitrary teams. Each student is asked to define three issues about which they are concerned where one of them is a personal challenge. A leader is picked who aggregates the interests of their group of eight people and posts the primary challenges along with the names of the students who posed the challenge. The five leaders sort challenges into similar topics. Then all of the students examine and prioritize the challenges (blue = best idea, green = excellent idea, yellow = potential idea, red = questionable). The best ideas are selected, and the associated students are grouped with them with adjustments to balance the team by discipline, gender, and ethnicity. Instructors check to make sure each group has a diversity of engineering disciplines and at least two individuals well-versed in biology (generally biologists or biomedical engineers). These student groups form the core unit for the various class activities referred to above. For instance, we have all students in a particular group present research findings to one another or practice analogy building or found object exercises in these groups to facilitate information sharing and communication as part of our team-building objectives. Groups often are charged with presenting their findings to the general class (e.g., the three best analogies, or the most interesting found object), but students are more comfortable presenting in these small groups, and then summarizing their findings to the class. The assignments increase in complexity throughout the course and culminate in an open-ended design project for which structured class time is provided, enabling instruction and teaching intervention to occur in a timely manner. Students are asked for three iterations on their design during the semester, which tend to shift (sometimes radically change) as the project team's understanding of both their problem and biological solutions evolves. The

iteration is an indispensible component, as the feedback requires students to continuously reassess their ideas and seek new analogies from natural systems. The final design requires feasibility assessment and quantitative analysis, and we find that this requirement in the later stages when designs mature leads to more satisfactory results than purely conceptual design. Students are provided an opportunity to share the early iterations and design ideas during multiple mini presentations and midterm poster sessions and final class presentations, facilitating information sharing across teams (NAS, 2005). This open-ended, project-based exercise requires students to incorporate all the lessons they have previously learned and encapsulates all the objectives established for this class.

#### 10.2.1.8 Mentoring

Experts with appropriate specializations are assigned to mentor teams to facilitate and refine their "search image" during their project phase, and teams are required to meet with them to vet design ideas. This both tests their interdisciplinary design and communication skills and provides real-world practice. The inevitable failure from naive problem understanding and design concepts during expert interactions nearly always results in profound, positive learning experiences, deepening technical understanding and driving home the complexity of the real-world design (Barnes et al., 1997; Bilen et al., 2005; Kazerounian and Foley, 2007).

#### 10.2.1.9 Idea Journals and Reflections

Students keep individual hard-copy idea journals throughout the course and are asked to reflect upon the evolution of their thinking at the end of the course experience. The journals include text-based reflections as well as hand-drawn illustrations, printed pictures, and even biological found objects such as leaves and flowers. The act of reflection deepens students' understanding across all aspects of the class (Schoen, 1983; Purcell and Gero, 1996; Anthony et al., 2007). These journals also supply valuable student feedback that can be used to assess the course.

The text here to the end of this section is not really associated with the above topic. Please do something to sperate the text from above as per template. of our BID course are broadly consistent with the current literature on cognition of learning. Because the relevant literature in the cognitive and learning sciences is vast, we will not try to cover it here. In brief, we know that collaborative environments in which students determine and acquire their own knowledge can significantly enhance how well students master both facts and the thinking process. Specifically, (1) research on cognition of learning suggests that learning is situated in the world, especially the social-cultural world (Lave and Wenger, 1991); (2) social-cultural theories of learning emphasize collaborative construction of knowledge (Palincsar, 1998; Papert, 1991); (3) collaborative learning can enhance the quality of learning (Dillenbourg, 1999); (4) project-based learning is a useful strategy for situating collaborative learning (Blumenfeld et al., 1991); and (5) problem-based learning situates construction of knowledge (Savery and Duffy, 1995). Social-cultural theories of knowledge construction mentioned above (items 1 to 5) are receiving increasing attention in STEM education, including college-level education (Kozma, 2000), and we have paid heed to these findings in developing our approach. Our emphasis on design exercises, design projects, and research exercises positions students as active learners and fosters knowledge construction. Further, the BID course provides a "community of practice" for situating the learning of students from multiple disciplines in which students get to solve problems relevant to them.

A critical question is what kinds of knowledge should be constructed? Learning science suggests engaging students in the knowledge construction practices of professional scientists (Edelson, 1997). Our emphasis on bringing multiple BID practitioners to the BID course and assigning a professional BID scientist to each design project team exposes students to some of the knowledge construction activities of BID practitioners. This in turn raises the question of what kinds of knowledge do scientists and engineers construct. Cognitive science suggests that scientists/engineers construct models of the world (Darden, 2006; Nersessian, 1999, 2002): mental models, conceptual and explanatory models, simulative and predictive models, mathematical models, scale models, diagrammatic models, and so forth. Thus, cognitive science suggests that knowledge construction activities in science education too should emphasize construction, critiquing, and revision of models of the world (Clement, 2008). In the BID course, the design exercises, design projects, and research assignments provide opportunities for students to construct and revise models of many kinds. The design journals and reports in particular contain detailed models of the biological systems the design teams are trying to understand and the engineering systems they are trying to design. Understanding complex systems in both biology and engineering is cognitively challenging (Chi, 2005), and functional models that explain how the structure of a complex system achieves its functions are useful for understanding complex systems (Simon, 1969). The WWH (structure–behavior–function) models that we encourage BID students to explore emphasize functional explanations of complex systems. One of the outcomes from the BID course is that in the process of designing biologically inspired engineering systems, our students deepen their understanding of both biological and engineering systems. Situating model building in a practical design is a good strategy for learning about complex systems (Hmelo et al., 2000) because it entails explanation as well as prediction. This implies that the BID course, with its heavy emphasis on design presents an opportunity for students developing and deepening conceptual models of complex systems, especially biological systems.

#### 10.2.2 Timeline/Course Flow

Our 15-week course is organized to present initial concepts regarding BID methodology and practice during weeks 1 to 4, combined with structured in-course time to apply and discuss these concepts (Figure 10.1). This organization is designed with the following purpose in mind: (1) allow students to develop the necessary interdisciplinary communication and research skills to facilitate their design project work; (2) expose students to ideation and design skills that will encourage them to work outside of their comfort zone; and (3) practice the analogical reasoning skills that facilitate the successful search for and application of relevant biological concepts.

Students assemble into groups of five to six individuals in week 2 (W2), subject to the considerations of balance and diversity discussed above. Early assignments on analogical reasoning, search strategies, and so forth, are based on the initial interests of the students. We initially ask the students to write a short paragraph of individual challenges or problems they would like to solve as way to get them to start thinking about these issues. We find that the diversity of problems, potential natural principles, levels of biological organization examined and so forth, acts to catalyze more creative thinking during the later portions of the course when students transition to their team design projects. Students define their central problem in W4, and thereafter, and most of the milestones revolve around this topic.



#### FIGURE 10.1

Weekly time line of course activities. Each division of the time line lists key components, broken up into principle, practice, and milestones. *Principle* refers to content normally presented via lecture activities, *practice* refers to activities involving mostly class or group discussions, and *milestones* represent significant assignment deadlines associated with the design project. Topical lectures on BID case studies, combined with corresponding found object exercises on the same topic occur in weeks (week number = W#) in which no activities are explicitly presented.

Our early versions (2005–2007) of the course did not specify the design challenges, but we increasingly favor using a broadly defined topic (e.g., water conservation [2008], energy efficient buildings [2009]) within which student teams determine specific challenges. Although this potentially limits students' creative expression, we believe this is balanced by the fact that it provides focus, encourages students to tackle problems that are appropriately challenging, and fosters greater exchange among groups as a result of this common focus. It also allows us to analyze and present the entire range of initial processes considered by the students as potential problem topics—this frequently elicits discussions from the students on connections between specific areas or areas that may be ignored. The end result is that students begin to understand the advantages of multifunctional solutions, or specific areas that are under consideration and that may be particularly amenable to applying biological principles.

Because BID often involves identifying relevant principles that may not be immediately obvious, we encourage students to take a broadly comparative approach early on and seek breadth rather than depth at this stage. A common problem in engineering education is that students feel pressure to come up with solutions quickly and are uncomfortable with ambiguity or uncertainty. In the BID process, we intentionally destabilize their thought process, asking them not to settle on their first solution and instead engage in a comparative approach. Kazerounian and Foley (2007) state that ambiguity enhances creative thought, and we agree with their findings. Thus, the first project milestone beyond defining their specific challenge is to mine the biological literature for what they consider the five best potential systems (analogies) for their challenge. The previous assignments in literature searching (W3), analogical reasoning and problem decomposition (W2 and W4), and the ongoing found object exercises are all designed to prepare them for this task. Students present their initial problem decomposition and analogies in a poster session in W7, where they receive feedback from instructors, expert facilitators, and other students. If necessary,

they use this feedback to refine and redefine their problem. These redefinitions usually occur as a result of inappropriate analogies that indicate a poorly phrased problem or bad match to the biological system. Interestingly, the problem redefinition can occur in one or two ways: students may refine their problem statement because their choice of analogies reveals they need a more accurate description to find appropriate biological solutions, or they revise their problem statement to correspond to principles actually revealed by the biological systems they have chosen. This corresponds roughly to problem-based versus solution-based reasoning, and reveals both the iterative and bidirectional cognitive process (Helms et al., 2008) involved in BID (see below).

Preliminary project designs are presented in W10 and W12 as mini presentations. This involves detailed problem decomposition and how the proposed solution maps on to this problem (see Section 10.2.4.1). The design in W12 is not simply a refinement of that in W10—it requires that students apply a new concept from a different biological principle. This encourages students not to be fixated on particular design ideas before they have a chance to explore multiple potential solutions. The quantitative analysis milestone assures that students have used quantitative reasoning to assess the potential feasibility of their solutions in light of the problem constraints and is focused on examining whether their solution can perform the appropriate function it is designed to achieve. We specifically direct the students that this should not be a market analysis or a cost–benefit calculation. Although we realize these are design skills as well, they are tangential to our concerns, which relate to the ability of students to map potential biological principles to achieve functionality necessary to solve a human centered challenge. Each team does a final presentation where extra points are given if a biologist presents the engineering principles or the engineer presents biological principles. Project mentors and outside experts are invited to this final critique to provide feedback for students to use for preparing their final portfolio.

## 10.2.2.1 Portfolio Design

A brochure is published for each team, consisting of eight glossy pages to present the design process and outcome as follows: (p1) title to provide a branding and a list of team members (major + photo) to recognize their intellectual property; (p2) a definition of the problem and its significance; (p3) an assessment of existing solutions; (p4 and p5) presentation and decomposition of biological analogs; (p6) a description and representation of the design; (p7) quantitative analyses of function, materials, and environmental impact; and (p8) bibliography and acknowledgments. This portfolio is prepared as a pitch to a venture capitalist to convince them to invest in the research and development for the design. Students have brought these to job interviews and report that the portfolio triggers lively conversations about BID.

In the next section, we describe, in more detail, some of the assignments that we believe are essential to prepare students for their design project.

#### 10.2.3 Evolution versus Design

To document the richness of design present in natural systems, one of our first lessons focuses on the process of evolution and natural selection. This is followed by a series of comparisons that document the similarities and differences between natural and human made designs.

#### 10.2.3.1 Evolution as a Design Process: Challenges and Opportunities

One of the great strengths of interdisciplinary teaching using the BID framework is that both biologists and engineers understand design and function, in the context of biological and engineered devices and processes, respectively. This provides a natural common language to facilitate communication. However, the actual use of biological principles as potential engineering insights depends on more than a common framework; it requires a basic understanding of the process of evolutionary "design" and, in particular, how this process is different from that of human, conscious, intentional design. We consider this an essential lesson for both engineers and biologists. Other authors have drawn attention to this distinction (Vogel, 1998; Full, 2001) but do not discuss the implications for effective BID teaching.

The major aim of our discussion of evolution as a "design process" is to make plain the differences between intentional design to produce a desired function and the unintentional, trial-and-error design process of evolution. The comparison of evolutionary and human design places concepts immediately familiar to biologists and engineers in a common framework and immediately facilitates communication across disciplines. Additionally, understanding the major differences between human and evolutionary design enables students to interrogate the biological world more effectively as they search for design ideas.

Our discussion of this problem focuses on a number of separate but interrelated considerations. We generally couple a given principle with well known or interesting examples as ways to increase cross-domain knowledge, to expose students to potentially valuable biological systems, and to emphasize that BID requires specific biological subject knowledge. Our major points are as follows: (1) evolution is a chance process so a given function may have evolved through several different underlying mechanisms. For example, modifications to the cichlid jaw structure that confer high mechanical advantage are accomplished through a variety of genetic changes that alter different jaw bones. (2) Evolution increases fitness only locally because constraints on what is possible (animals are not infinitely plastic) may limit available options. Thus, animals may only evolve a good solution, as opposed to the best solution. (3) Evolution is a historical process. Related organisms may share particular solutions not because it is the best, or the only solution, but simply because these traits are passed on from ancestor to descendent. Many crustaceans, for instance, share common elements in their visual processing system because they are descendent from a common ancestor. (4) Closely related species in a group often have ecological niches that are largely similar but which exhibit subtle but important differences relating to the specific expression of a given function. All bats, for instance, use echolocation for critical tasks yet inhabit different acoustic environments that are important constraints on their acoustic detection systems. (5) Evolutionary "design" operates on the level of the individual, not necessarily a specific function or subsystem. Thus, a given structure or process in biology may be the product of multiple sometimes conflicting demands or constraints. This sometimes differs from human technology, where we often choose to build very specific solutions.

The core lesson here with respect to BID practice is that the search for biological principles requires an appropriate assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of evolutionary design. Biological principles have resulted in innovative designs (for a summary, see Vincent et al., 2006) but will not be useful unless there is an analogous problem that requires evolutionary adaptation. On the basis of the above analysis, students must recognize a number of important pitfalls or caveats for the strategies they use to mine the biological literature for potential solutions. These caveats directly address misconceptions students (even biologists) sometimes have about evolution and lead to a better framing for how to acquire knowledge

useful for solving a particular problem. First, because a given solution may evolve via a number of mechanisms, one must have a firm understanding of the appropriate level at which to interrogate a biological system. Too narrow a focus may be misleading by identifying specific ways a problem may be solved rather than the unifying principle. Second, finding the optimal solution from biology may not always be possible, as opposed to revealing a general principle that can be implemented in a particular way that is best for a given technological problem. Third, identifying robust principles may be difficult given the nature of historical constraint. Searching biology for solutions must include comparisons across related groups that are less likely to share solutions because of history. Convergent evolution, where organisms from completely different lineages arrive at the same solution to similar conditions (flight by the insect, bat, and bird for instance), tells us what are the key mechanisms. It may be most useful to start with these solutions when translating them into engineered designs. In contrast, comparing across groups of animals that are related (e.g., species within a genus) may reveal how solutions are fine tuned for very specific challenges—that is, parameter values for system properties that are maximally beneficial for a given specific set of constraints. Finally, biology may or may not be an appropriate guide given the difference between the (typically) unifunctional engineered and multifunctional biological approaches. However, biology may reveal ways to implement multifunctional solutions, if such a thing is required, desired, or necessary in a design. Aside from the practical importance of these considerations for BID, they also develop skills in a number of areas that seem critical for problem solving generally, such as appropriate identification of the general issues, recognition of constraints, and the utility of comparative analysis to reveal general principles.

We find that establishing the salience of biology to engineering is strengthened by showing similarity of constraints as well as problems. Clearly, the analysis of function as both an engineering and a biological pursuit helps define a common problem framework, but the discussion of problems associated with evolution as a "designer" may lead to students questioning whether BID is a successful way of thinking. Thus, we conclude with a short discussion of "evolutionary" constraints in a common device—the QWERTY keyboard. As chronicled in a number of different analyses (Noyes, 1998), the present incarnation of QWERTY is the result of many of the same phenomenon we discuss in the context of biological evolution, including historical constraint, competing design requirements, and incremental change. Feeding back from engineering into biology helps solidify the concepts and strengthens the link between the engineering and biological domains.

#### 10.2.3.2 Setting the Stage: Technological versus Natural "Solutions"

We have developed a "lecture without words" that makes students aware of the differences between natural and technological approaches to problems as a prelude for their immersion into specific BID projects. Our purpose is threefold. First, we wish to make students aware of how differently biological processes "solve" particular problems as a way to enlarge the design space. Students may be unaware of the confines of technological approaches without some exposure to natural principles and how these may differ from the more familiar solutions. Second, we wish to identify some of the general principles used by biological processes and reinforce the necessity to understand those processes before engaging in BID. This emphasizes the inherent multidisciplinary nature of BID as a process that requires depth in biology and engineering that can only be gained by dialog between practitioners of both these fields. Finally, we use this exercise to drive home some of the potential problems in transferring principles from the biological to the technological domain. Appropriate mapping of biologically based solutions onto technological challenges requires understanding constraints, which may be so dissimilar as to prevent application. By example, many properties of biological materials depend (at least partially) on hierarchy, but constructing hierarchically organized materials seems technologically challenging as it often may require control of materials at nano- and microscales, which is pushing the limits of many of our manufacturing processes. Similarly, task allocation and distributed decision making in groups of organisms often takes place in a context where organisms are closely related, which results in a situation in which the evolutionary fitness of the group is closely tied to the evolutionary fitness of individuals within the group. Applications of some of these principles may well depend on analogous situations in the organization of collective human systems.

The general purpose for this exercise relates to the ability of students to recognize principles, to distinguish differences among principles, and consider constraints. As such, we believe that these mental processes are best learned via practice, and so we engage students by an activity where natural versus technological "design solutions" are presented together via a series of paired images without instructor comment. Students are asked to compare and contrast what they see as relevant problem solving principles. The exercise concludes by revisiting each image pair and discussing the student's impressions. Because neither the problems nor the solutions are explicitly identified, this exercise allows students to practice problem-solution mapping, which is an essential skill required to identify and translate principles across domains. It asks them to consider both differences and similarities, which helps to sharpen their ideas on novel principles in the biological domain and where or why they arise. We are particularly careful to emphasize the range of biological processes that may act as inspiration, going from individual materials, to organ and organism levels (e.g., biomechanics, physiology), to single and multispecies aggregations. Students intuitively grasp the potential for translating principles derived from lower levels (e.g., materials, biomechanics), possibly because of the physical manifestation of the problems on these levels. Problems and principles on system levels seem more abstract, and may be harder for the students to identify.

#### 10.2.4 Analogy Exercises

In practice, BID is a technique for complex problem solving using analogical design, where novel designs in one domain (engineering, architecture, etc.) are created by drawing upon solutions and patterns in the different domain of, for example, biology (Benyus, 1997; Bar-Cohen, 2005). Recent research on design, especially creative design, has explored the use of analogies in proposing solutions to design problems in the conceptual phase of the design process (e.g., Zhao and Maher, 1988; Mostow, 1989; Gross and Do, 1995; Qian and Gero, 1996; Goel, 1997; Casakin and Goldschmidt, 1999; Goel and Bhatta, 2004; Davies et al., 2009). For example, Qian and Gero (1996) and Goel and Bhatta (2004) present computational models for generation of new design concepts by cross-domain analogies guided by structure-behavior–function models. Casakin and Goldschmidt (1999), Gross and Do (1995), and Davies et al. (2009) describe the generation of design concepts by visual analogy. Recognition of BID as a process of analogical transfer also has led to computational tools for supporting BID (Chakrabarti et al., 2005; Chiu and Shu, 2007; Vattam et al., 2010b). Idea-inspired application represents the functions, behaviors, and structures of biological and engineering systems in a uniform representational scheme called SAPPhIRE. BID however remains cognitively challenging despite the advancement of relevant theories and supporting tools.

Our first iterations of the BID course implicitly incorporated many ideas and techniques of analogical reasoning. We know from Dunbar (1995) that in general the analogy making

behavior of humans in naturalistic and laboratory settings is quite different: people make more, and more interesting, analogies in their natural environments. Thus, over the last few years, we have made several empirical findings about analogical reasoning in BID (e.g., Helms et al., 2008, 2009; Vattam et al., 2010a,b). We then analyzed these findings from the perspectives of design theory and design cognition and identified several patterns of content and process of analogies in BID, for example, problem-driven and solution-based processes of BID (Helms et al., 2008, 2009; Vattam et al., 2010a,b) and compound analogy (Helms et al., 2009; Vattam et al., 2010a,b). Over time, we explicitly included these content and process accounts into our teaching. Below we describe several patterns of analogical design reasoning we have identified and which we now use in our teaching.

#### 10.2.4.1 Problem Decomposition

Once students attain a deeper understanding of the biological principles from reading the primary literature, they are ready for the process of translation. This requires both problem decomposition and analogical reasoning. For problem decomposition, the designer iteratively decomposes the presented problem into subproblems to create a problem hierarchy. Assuming that the problem is decomposed along functional lines (other decompositions are possible), each node in this hierarchy is a function to be achieved. A representative decomposition (see Chandrasakaran, 1990; Figure 10.2) illustrates one potential functional analysis of the process of how animals walk on sand. This particular decomposition was derived collectively by the class as an instructor led in-class exercise. The class was given relevant primary literature (Li et al., 2009) before this discussion.

Two key functions of movement over sand are balance and propulsion, forming the first level of the hierarchy of the decomposition. To achieve the function of balancing, the organism can minimize tilt or recover level (top left side). Tilt minimization is then achieved by either not sinking or by maintaining level. These functions may require the organism to distribute their load over a large surface or avoid obstacles. Approaching the decomposition from the specific kinematics (lower right side), we define how a sand walker gains purchase in the sand through controlled shearing, surface area contact, adhesion,



## FIGURE 10.2

Functional decomposition for movement over sand.

and embedding into the surface. This is abstracted to the general function of interaction with the medium that provides force for movement, thus propelling the organism. Note, however, that for these problem decompositions, there are no right or wrong decompositions, only more or less useful ones. To be more useful, it is important to identify functions, clearly articulating why the organism performs these functions. Deep thinking about the behavior requires understanding how the function works and the mechanisms and processes involved. Here, awareness of common principles helps to abstract to higher-level more general functions that may be applied more universally, thus expanding the usefulness. Although it is necessary to play with the arrangement to make the best links from structures to mechanisms to functions, one also must make commitments and move on.

When developing these problem decompositions, each function can be used as a cue to retrieve known solutions that achieve that function, thus expanding the number of alternative solutions. Solutions are transferred to the current problem and aggregated to generate the overall solution. We show how an analysis of plant growth provided inspiration for improving solar energy conversion (Figure 10.3).



#### **FIGURE 10.3**

The functional decomposition of the process of plant growth was constructed in parallel to similar analyses of the problem of solar energy conversion. By specifying the structures and processes involved in the mechanism of photosynthesis by the plant and the mechanism of photon conversion in solar collectors, a common solution—use of structural properties and ambient water to keep surfaces free of debris that could occlude light capture—led to a bioinspired solution of self cleaning photovoltaic surfaces. (Adapted from Vattam, S., M. Helms and A. Goel, "Biologically-inspired innovation in engineering design: a cognitive study," Technical report, Graphics, Visualization and Usability Center, Georgia Institute of Technology, GIT-GVU-07-07, (2007).)

Here both the natural solution and the problem have been decomposed into functions until a level is reached where functions overlap and a crossover can occur. In this example, the interaction of surface structural properties and ambient water was the inspiration for a self-cleaning mechanism.

#### 10.2.4.2 Compound Analogies in BID

Our analyses of the design products and processes in BID revealed a complex interplay between solution knowledge, analogical references, and problem understanding, leading to the incremental, iterative development of compound analogical solutions. In short, the process of compound analogy involves the use of two or more analogies in the design of a target system (Helms et al., 2009; Vattam et al., 2010a). Beginning with an initial problem description P1, one is reminded of an initial source S1 (Figures 10.4 and 10.5). During the process of transferring information from the source to the target problem, a greater understanding of the target problem evolves. The new understanding P2 may include new subproblems, constraints, or functions to be accomplished, which may in turn remind one of an additional source S2. This additional source then may be applied to the new problem to yield a yet more elaborate problem description P3. This problem description and its resulting solution are said to be a compound analogy as it is a result of the application of more than a single analogical transfer. Figure 10.4 illustrates how a problem, decomposed into its functions, can be mapped onto or matched to a series of analogues.

We draw two main conclusions from our analysis. First, successful BID requires that designers carry representations of previous problems that are organized at different levels of abstraction and aggregation. This organization facilitates the decomposition of solutions and allows solution analogs to be retrieved with cues taken from each level. Second, the mapping between the problem space and a target solution allows for identification of potential new solutions but also permits inferences about problem decomposition. The design problem therefore evolves as a result of the interplay between the problem decomposition and the analogy-making process. The use of compound analogies illustrates that value of incorporating principles that are deeply understood, instead of mimicking a given system. It results in creative solutions that incorporate diverse principles that may not be found in a single natural example (e.g., "geckel" combines adhesion of geckos and mussels; Lee et al., 2007). It also facilitates reevaluation and reinterpretation of the design problem and refinement of potential solutions.

This process explains complications that often arise during reintegration when the solutions from disconnected analogies do not integrate cleanly at their boundaries or have overall constraint mismatches. Each new node from the source solution decomposition integrated into the problem space can act as an additional cue for retrieving another set of solution analogs. This process can continue iteratively leading to the incremental development of the problem space. The designer can evaluate the partial solutions available at every stage of the design process and decide to take further actions. The iterative feedback between these two processes accounts for the incremental evolution of design problems.

#### 10.2.4.3 Multifunctional Design and Problem-Driven versus Solution-Based BID

Multiple problems (Figure 10.5, P1–P5) often can be addressed by a particular natural solution due to the multifunctionality of natural systems. An example of a problem having



#### FIGURE 10.4

Analogical reasoning matches functions of the problem to those found in the natural systems.



#### FIGURE 10.5

**(See color insert.)** A single natural solution (on the right) may solve one or more problems; one problem (on the left) can in turn be solved by one or more natural solutions.

more than one primary function is how the bulletproof vest provides both impact and puncture resistance. Hence, a single analogous natural system, such as an abalone shell, potentially may be applied to more than one problem and represents a multifunctional solution. Interestingly, we have noticed that multifunctional solutions are more likely to arise when students use a solution-driven versus problem-driven approach. As alluded to above, the BID can be motivated by a technological problem or potentially useful biological properties (problem- vs. solution-driven approaches; Helms et al., 2008; Figure 10.6). Both approaches have resulted in the successful application of biological concepts to technological challenges (Yen and Weissburg, 2007). The usual problem-driven design process (Figure 10.6a) begins with a technological challenge, such as

(a)	Problem Driven BID Process			
	Problem definition	Define a human problem in terms of required function(s) and constraints.	"Design a light-weight, bullet proofvest"	Don't be too vague, or overly specific.
	Reframe problem	"Biologize" the problem by reframing the human problem in biological terms	How do animals withstand high impact forces in nature?"	Abstract over the human problem, don't just repeat it.
	Biological solution search	Apply search strategies in the biological world to find sources that solve the "biologized" problem.	Abalone Shell, Ram Horns Rhino Horns, Lobster Shell, etc	Make certain the source is actually solving the problem you want addressed; look at MANY sources.
	Solution understanding	Understand how the biological source solves the "biologized" problem.	Abalone shell uses elastic protein/calcium interleaving to reduce crack propagation.	Focus on the behaviors and functions of the structure; pay attention to constraints.
	Principle abstraction	Identify solution-neutral behaviors and principles used by the biological source.	Interleaving of rigid and elastic substances.	Try to eliminate specific structural reference altogether. Does this remove constraints?
	<b>↓</b> Trial design	Apply the behaviors and principles to solve the original human problem.	"Sliding plate" vest.	Don't forget your original constraints.
(b) Solution Driven BID Process				
	Solution identification	Identify a biological source that has solved a challenging problem.	"WOW. look at how that cop ep od sneaks up on its prey!"	Pick a specific function of the organism.
	Solution understanding	Understand how the biological source solves the "biologized" problem.	The cop ep od uses a very specific kind of leg motion that doesn't create wake.	Focus on behaviors, look for behaviors that accomplish more than one function. Define constraints.
	Principle abstraction	Identify solution-neutral behaviors and principles used by the biological source.	Synchronized motion to reduce disturbing the surroundings.	Try to eliminate specific structural reference altogether. Does this remove constraints?
	Reframe solution	"Humanize" the solution in terms relevant to meeting human goals.	"How do humans move through their environment without disturbing it?"	Abstract the solution into a high-level question.
	Problem search & definition	Find salient human problems that match the "Humanized" solution, select one, and define constraints.	Scientific observers want to observe without interfering with natural processes.	Look at more than one candidate problem.
	<b>♦</b> Trial design	Apply the principles to solve the "humanized" problem.	Underwater spy-bot.	Don't forget your original constraints.

#### FIGURE 10.6

(a) Problem-driven bioinspired design process. Reframing the problem in terms of natural processes is a key step in bioinspired design. Principle abstraction allows the natural solutions to find a broader range of application to technological challenges. (b) Solution-driven bioinspired design process. Often, the particular way that an organism solves a problem is so unique and fascinating that it drives the process to reverse engineer nature, searching for a human challenge that could be solved by the natural process. Again principle abstraction is an essential step in enabling a successful translation of natural functions to technological mechanisms.

designing a lightweight bulletproof vest, which we put before students as an exercise. We used functional indexing and reframed the problem in biological terms by asking, "How do animals withstand high impact forces in nature?" Subsequent biological literature searches revealed how different organisms withstood impact using structures with unusual construction that dissipate impact forces (ram's horn, abalone shells, and lobster carapace). The search also identified articles explaining these phenomena from a materials standpoint, with one potential mechanism consisting of the interleaving of rigid calcium carbonate tiles and elastic protein layers (Lin and Meyers, 2005). The general principle of offset rigid structures with flexibility imparted by more elastic layers inspired a design for a "sliding plate" vest. In contrast, the solution-driven process searches for a problem that can be solved by a selected natural system. In this example (Figure 10.6b), a series of articles described how an aquatic microcrustacean was able to approach a prey stealthily, using a specific kind of leg motion (van Duren and Videler, 2003) that creates a laminar wake with minimal water disturbance (Yen and Strickler, 1996). Synchrony in the propulsion mechanism provided a general mechanism for stealth in water. Reframing the solution in terms relevant to meeting human challenges, the problem was defined by asking this question, "How can humans move through their environment without disturbing it?" This led to the implementation of a novel mechanism for an underwater spy-bot that could be used to observe without interfering with natural processes.

Clearly, biological knowledge provided inspiration for novel designs through both the problem-driven as well as the solution-driven processes. Still, we see evidence that solution-driven and problem-driven approaches are different with respect to the final design outcome. An analysis of nine BID design projects in Fall 2006 showed (1) solution fixation limited the solution-driven design process, (2) multifunctionality dominated the solution-driven process, and (3) solution-driven approaches had a strong structural focus possibly the result of limited incubation time or limited understanding of the mechanisms responsible for the function.

These results make plain the different advantages of each approach, and possibly reveal something about the underlying design process. Whereas solution-centered approaches produce fixation probably because of the strong initial focus on a particular organism, the problem-driven approach tends to restrict the ability of the designer to reach outside of their initial framework and engage multifunctionality. Thus, we believe it is critically important to encourage students to iterate the process and switch between problem and solution focused approaches. Just as the iteration between technological problem and biological analogies may drive innovative compound solutions, it also may drive expansion and redefinition of the problem to incorporate multifunctionality and, in complementary fashion, reduce the tendency toward design fixation.

#### 10.3 Studying the BID Process—Lessons Learned

Our course represents the efforts of not only biologists and engineers but also contributions from cognitive scientists engaged in understanding human cognition and creativity. Our course strategy has been deeply influenced by findings in that field. In addition to education as a design microcosm, the classroom also serves as a research platform for understanding the process of BID specifically and analogical reasoning generally. We have studied the activity of classroom participants for the last three years, examining the processes they use, and intermediate and final design representations. Analysis of this has yielded a number of cognitive theories of BID. Although such theories may or may not generalize beyond classroom design, it is our hope that this information will enhance existing BID education practices specifically and interdisciplinary education generally as well as provide useful insight for professionals in the design field.

As mentioned, the overarching purpose is to teach a systematic BID approach by emphasizing a series of five learning goals, and attendant course objectives, that we believe are essential for the successful transference of biological principles to human design challenges. Below we share the results of our studies as well as student feedback that is relevant to the assessment of our pedagogical practice.

### 10.3.1 Novel Techniques for Creativity

One of the driving goals for BID is the increased attribution of creativity to BIDs. We know that analogy use and design fixation present significant challenges to students in BID. With respect to analogy use, for a single design project, we found that students investigate between 2 and 30 different cross-domain analogies, and roughly half of the projects include more than one cross-domain analogy in their final design solution (Vattam et al., 2007). The way these analogies are used in practice led the cognitive scientists to the development of a theory of compound analogical design (as presented in Section 10.2.4.2). With respect to design fixation, despite the requirement to investigate many design alternatives, as many as 66% of design projects use variations on initial design for their final design project, and only between one and three design variations are ever explored during the process (Helms et al., 2009). In response to this study of the 2007 iteration of the class, we added the requirements that students find 25 potential biological examples and work up two preliminary designs that use different principles.

#### 10.3.2 Interdisciplinary Communication Skills

Most undergraduate students have limited exposure to working in design teams with students outside of their designated majors. Communication issues arise from multiple facets of these collaborations, including lexicon differences, discipline superiority biases, and representation preference differences, to name a few. In their reflections at the end of class, both engineers and biologists cite awareness of an expanded vocabulary and of a new ability to communicate across domains. The following quotes are direct excerpts from student reflections:

- (i) "I have also learned to communicate with those in other fields more effectively and hopefully to communicate with those in my own field more effectively."
- (ii) "Working with two biologists in my group over the course of the semester though, I think I did learn how to better understand biological systems and speak in biological terms."
- (iii) "... the most useful skill I learned this semester was learning to talk to engineers. For example, I had never heard of a stress-strain curve before, but I am happy to draw one for you now."

Additionally, with respect to representation use, for a given biological system, we know that engineers prefer graphs/tables (90%), whereas biologists show equally divided preference among text, graphs/tables, and structured knowledge representations (Helms et al., 2010). This suggests that part of the communication gap lies not in vocabulary, but in

representation preferences. We also note (in Helms et al., 2008) that students communicate at varied levels of abstraction, from basic shapes to drawings to structure to functional abstractions.

## 10.3.3 Knowledge about Domains outside of Core Training

By definition, BID requires knowledge about biology as well as knowledge of the core discipline in which the designers work, for example, an engineering discipline, architecture, industrial design, and so forth. Although students from one discipline are not expected to become experts in another, a level of basic engineering or biological concepts is necessary to facilitate interaction and contribution from all team members. Classroom testing in 2008 shows 60% to 70% effectiveness for cross-domain transfer of basic domain concepts, which also is supported by the following student reflections.

- (i) "Interactions and cooperation with the logical, calculating minds of engineering students have allowed me to learn how to look at a problem from a logical point of view rather than the creative, 'big picture' perspective I often approach a challenge with."
- (ii) "I know some biology majors, but interacting with them in this class really surprised me about how differently people in different majors think.... It is surprising how specialized your thinking becomes after just two or three years without you realizing it."

## 10.3.4 The Interdisciplinary Design Process

A key finding from our *in situ* cognitive study (Vattam et al., 2007) is that despite problemdriven instruction, approximately half of our students follow a solution-driven approach and fixate on an interesting biological mechanism and then look for problems for which that mechanism is a good solution. This finding repeats itself consistently year after year. Furthermore, as a result of (1) the hunt for analogies appropriate to the designers' problems and (2) the need to understand the often complicated foreign (to engineers) underlying mechanisms of analogous biological systems, a great deal of design time is spent searching for and understanding biological systems. This search for understanding has a tendency to reduce the time available for problem research and design conceptualization. One of the key challenges reported in (Nelson, 2009) is the notion of sunk cost (Arkes and Blumer, 1985; Olds et al., 2005). The implication is that time is a highly valued resource, and that after an investment in understanding an initial solution/design, students perceive too high a switching cost (in terms of time) to investigate alternative solutions. The account in Nelson et al. (2009), which focuses on some of our design teams, also provides valuable information on the evolution of student understanding of the design process, for example, student confusion between problem space and application space (Ahmed et al., 2003; Atman et al., 2007). Student reflections also demonstrate a heightened appreciation for the complexities of the design process:

- (i) "I thought that the class was a good departure from the more traditional engineering courses, where formulas and methods are taught from a textbook and tested. Although it is necessary that engineers are able to understand the basic disciplines... the ability to think creatively about real-world situations seems to be a more important skill."
- (ii) "Personally, I felt incredibly good about the outcome. I had never designed something of that caliber from start to finish; doing so was wonderful."

(iii) "This course has changed my perspective on the interactions between biology and design, and it continually altered and expanded my understanding of how to engage in successful design."

#### 10.3.5 Application of Knowledge across Domains

We struggle as educators to provide students with knowledge contextualized in a way that enables use of that knowledge outside of a classroom setting (Downey and Lucena, 2003; Bras, 2003; Norton, 2005). The exponential increase in patents based on biological principles (Bonser and Vincent, 2007), and the numerous examples of successful BID products (Allen and Smits, 2001; Chan et al., 2005; Ayers and Witting, 2007; Capadona et al., 2008; Yeom and Oh, 2009) point to the value of BID as a practice worth teaching in its own right. Yet, we teach BID not only for its practical value. All of the above-listed skills are important, whether performed in the context of BID, in understanding biological systems, or in any interdisciplinary project. Additionally, as the following quotes exemplify, BID provides a new context for the application of knowledge students already have.

- (i) "(This class) was the first class I've had that combined analogous biological phenomena to develop solutions for engineering problems. I could actually apply some of my knowledge in biology to real problems!"
- (ii) "Along with a greater perspective on how engineering is applied to biology, I learned to think, brainstorm, and apply."

## **10.4 Future Directions**

BID is an active and exciting field that captures the imagination of people from many fields. Learning how this process works and using this approach trains us to think "outside the box" and find links between different disciplines. Perhaps for this reason as well as the success of BID in developing new products or processes (Vincent et al., 2006; Bonser and Vincent, 2007), there has been increasing interest in teaching BID. For instance, although accounts of pedagogy are not common, courses incorporating BID occur at the University of California, Berkeley (robotics), Duke University (materials), and University of Maryland (robotics) as well as centers at the University of Bath, Harvard University (The Wyss Institute for Biologically Inspired Engineering), and University of Applied Sciences at Bremen. This is only a partial listing, and undoubtedly BID occurs in other programs as well.

A central issue is that we currently lack strong cognitive science accounts of the thinking processes that underlie BID, and the necessary elements for successful teaching are not currently clear. Still, there is some consensus that BID requires the ability to describe function of human and biological systems and the effective use of analogy. Vincent et al. (2006) have pioneered the use of TRIZ as a system to accomplish these goals. TRIZ is a method to describe principles that underlie function and define analogies between systems on the basis of shared properties. It can be very useful in identifying potential biological principles for a given problem, but it is not a cognitive science account of the underlying thinking process. Some current research is providing such accounts of analogical reasoning in BID, which may provide a basis for understanding and perhaps enhancing creativity (e.g., Vattam et al., 2010c). It is also appreciated that a limiting factor in BID is domain-specific terminology that diminishes the ability of biologists and engineers to indentify equivalent systems or principles across their respective fields (e.g., Chiu and Shu, 2005). Bruck et al. (2007) indicate this as a factor that constrains how well engineers can identify principles useful for building biomimetic robots. Computational tools are being developed that help nonbiologists to retrieve information from the biological literature (Chakrabarti et al., 2005; Bruck et al., 2007; Chiu and Shu, 2007; Sarkar and Chakrabarti, 2008; Vattam et al., 2010b). These often take the form of databases or repositories that allow students to find relevant examples or systems for natural-language searching of the literature that help reduce the burden of field-specific terminology.

Another area of difficulty is that true transference of biological principles requires the fabrication of a device or the development of a process based on the biological principle. Our course stops short of this goal as a result of our decision to focus students' attention on using BID during the initial concept generation and surveying different areas of BID. Students clearly do not have the benefit of translating their principles into a realized device where they may understand more fully the relevant principles and gain valuable experience in understanding the steps required to engineer complex systems (Bruck et al., 2007). Covering a more limited topical area (e.g., robotics, materials) and providing students knowledge required to fabricate their devices can result in students developing many of the same skills as we sought to encourage in our own course (Bruck et al., 2007). Whether to pursue a more limited subject area and proceed all the way to fabrication (i.e., a vertical approach) versus a more comparative course stressing the role of BID in ideation (i.e., our horizontal approach) may depend on the student population, and the extent to which grounding in particular technical approaches is desired. Technical expertise is more likely to result from a more focused, vertical organization around a given subject area.

In terms of design theory, there is a need for a theoretical approach for what *content* from the biological world is applicable for design. A formal design process and theory that leverages cognitive science, learning theory, engineering education, and design theory can improve how we teach and how well we can learn to use this process. Metrics for evaluating the output, in terms of creativity, communication, cross-domain transfer, and design skills are needed. BID can be used to bring science out of academia and increase the respect people have for nature as a mentor and source of knowledge for practical devices, materials and processes.

## Acknowledgments

Most of the cognitive studies described here were done in collaboration with Swaroop Vattam. Some of the material in Section 10.2 has been adapted from papers written jointly with Vattam, including Helms et al. (2008, 2009) and Vattam et al. (2007, 20010a,b,c). This research has been generously supported by U.S. National Science Foundation, through the Division of Undergraduate Education grant (no. 0737041) entitled "Biologically inspired design: A Novel Interdisciplinary Biology-Engineering Curriculum and recently through a CreativeIT grant (no. 0855916) entitled "MAJOR: Computational Tools for Enhancing Creativity in Biologically Inspired Engineering Design." We thank the hard work and creative intellect of the bright undergraduate students at Georgia Tech who have taken our class over the past several years. Also, we express our appreciation of the very valuable

comments and suggestions of the reviewers of this chapter. The reviewers were Julie Linsey, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, and Tom McKeag, California College of the Arts and University of California, Berkeley, CA.

#### References

- Allen, J.J., and A.J. Smits, "Energy harvesting eel," *Journal of Fluids Structure*, Vol. 15, (2001), pp. 629–640.
- Ahmed, S., K.M. Wallace, and L.T.M. Blessing, "Understanding the differences between how novice and experienced designers approach design tasks," *Research in Engineering Design. Theory Applications and Concurrent Engineering*, Vol. 14, (2003), pp. 1–11.
- Anthony, L.J., M.F. Palius, C.A. Maher, and V.M. Prabhas, "Using discourse analysis to study a cross-disciplinary learning community: Insights from an IGERT training program," *Journal of Engineering Education*, Vol. 96, (2007), pp. 141–156.
- Arkes, H.R., and C. Blumer, "The psychology of sunk cost," Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, Vol. 35, (1985), pp. 124–140.
- Arzt, E., S. Gorb, and R. Spolenak, "From micro to nano contacts in biological attachment devices," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, Vol. 100, (2003), pp. 10603–10606.
- Atman, C.J., R.S. Adams, M.E. Cardella, J. Turns, S. Mosborg, and J. Saleem, "Engineering design processes: A comparison of students and expert practitioners," *Journal of Engineering Education*, Vol. (2007), pp. 359–379.
- Autumn, K., "Properties, principles, and parameters of the gecko adhesive system," in A.M. Smith and J.A. Callow (Eds.), *Biological Adhesives*, Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, (2006), pp. 225–256.
- Ayers, J., and J. Witting, "Biomimetic approaches to the control of underwater walking machines," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, A, Vol. 365, (2007), pp. 273–295.
- Baldwin, R.G., "The climate for undergraduate teaching and learning in STEM fields," New Directions for Teaching and Learning, Vol. 2009, No. 117, (2009), pp. 9–18, doi:10.1002/tl.340.
- Ball, P., "Life's lessons in design," Nature, Vol. 409, (2001), pp. 413-416.
- Bar-Cohen, Y., *Biomimetics; Biologically Inspired Technologies*, Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton, (2005).
- Barnes, C., G. Hollington, M. Gester, J. Vincent, P. Poitevin, M. Kemp, J. Schampel, B. Knott, and P. Richardson, *Biomimetics: Strategies for Product Design Inspired by Nature: DTI Global Watch Mission*, Leicestershire, England, (1997).
- Barthlott, W., and C. Neinhuis, "Purity of the sacred lotus, or escape from contamination in biological surfaces," *Planta*, Vol. 202, (1997), pp. 1–8.
- Bascompte, J., P. Jordano, and J.M. Olesen, "Asymmetric coevolutionary networks facilitate biodiversity maintenance," Science, Vol. 312, (2006), pp. 431–433.
- Benyus, J, Biomimicry: Innovation Inspired by Nature, HarperCollins, New York, (1997).
- Bilen, S.G., E.C. Kisenwether, S.E. Rzasa, and J.C. Wise, "Developing and assessing students' entrepreneurial skills and mind-set," *Journal of Engineering Education*, Vol. 94, (2005), pp. 233–243.
- Blackledge, T.A., and C.Y. Hayashi, "Unraveling the mechanical properties of composite silk threads spun by cribellate orb-weaving spiders," *Journal of Experimental Biology*, Vol. 209, (2006), pp. 3131–3140.
- Blumenfeld, P.C., E. Soloway, R.W. Marx, J.S. Krajcik, M. Guzdial, and A. Palinscar, "Motivating project-based learning: Sustaining the doing, supporting the learning," *Educational Psychologist*, Vol. 26, (1991), pp. 369–398.
- Bonser, R.H.C., and J.F.V. Vincent, "Technology trajectories, innovation, and the growth of biomimetics," Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part C: Journal of Mechanical Engineering Science, Vol. 221, (2007), 1177–1180.

- Bras, B., "Teaching environmentally conscious design and manufacturing at the undergraduate level—A Georgia Tech perspective," 2003 ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, ASME, Washington, DC, (November 16–21, 2003).
- Bruck, H.A., A.L. Gershon, I. Golden, S.K. Gupta, L.S. Gyger, E.B. Magrab, and B.W. Spranklin, "Training mechanical engineering students to utilize biological inspiration during product development," *Bioinspiration and Biomimetics*, Vol. 2, (2007), pp. S198–S209.
- Capadona, J.R., K. Shanmuganathan, and D.J.Tyler, "Stimuli-responsive polymer nanocomposites inspired by the sea cucumber dermis," *Science*, Vol. 319, (2008), pp. 1370–1374.
- Casakin, H., and G. Goldschmidt, "Expertise and the use of visual analogy: Implications for design education," *Design Studies*, Vol. 20, (1999), pp. 153–175.
- Chakrabarti, A., P. Sarkar, B. Leelavathamma, and B.S. Nataraju, "A functional representation for aiding biomimetic and artificial inspiration of new ideas," *Artificial Intelligence for Engineering*, *Design, Analysis and Manufacturing*, Vol. 19, (2005), pp. 113–132.
- Chan, B., N.J. Balmforth, and A.E. Hosoi, "Building a better snail: Lubrication and adhesive locomotion," Physics of Fluids, Vol. 17, (2005), pp. 113101-1.
- Chandrasekaran, B., "Design problem solving: A task analysis," AI Magazine, (Winter 1990), pp. 59–71.
- Chi, M., "Commonsense conceptions of emergent processes," Journal of the Learning Sciences, Vol. 14, (2005), pp. 161–199.
- Chiu, I., and L.H. Shu, *Bridging Cross-Domain Terminology for Biomimetic Design*, Paper presented at the 2005 IDETC Design Theory and Methodology, Long Beach, CA, (2005).
- Chiu, I., and L.H. Shu, "Biomimetic design through natural language analysis to facilitate crossdomain information retrieval," Artificial Intelligence for Engineering, Design, Analysis and Manufacturing, Vol. 21, (2007), pp. 45–59.
- Clement, J., Creative Model Construction in Scientists and Students: The Role of Imagery, Analogy, and Mental Simulation, Springer, Dordrecht, (2008).
- Darden, L., Reasoning in Biological Discoveries, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2006).
- Davies, J., A. Goel, and N. Nersessian, "A computational model of visual analogies in design," Journal of Cognitive Systems Research, Vol. 10, (2009), pp. 204–215.
- DeHaan, R.L., "The impending revolution in undergraduate science education," *Journal of Science Education Technology*, Vol. 14, (2005), pp. 253–269.
- Dillenbourg, P., Collaborative Learning: Cognitive and Computational Approaches, Pergamon, New York, (1999).
- Downey, G., and J. Lucena, "When students resist: Ethnography of a senior design experience in engineering education," *International Journal of Engineering Education*, Vol. 19, (2003), pp. 168–176.
- Dugosh, K.L., P.B. Paulus, E.J. Roland, and H.-C. Yang, "Cognitive stimulation in brainstorming," *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, Vol. 79, (2000), pp. 722–735.
- Dunbar, K., "How scientists really reason: Scientific reasoning in real-world laboratories," in R.J. Sternberg and J. Davidson (Eds.), *Mechanisms of Insight*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, (1995), pp. 365–395.
- Edelson, D, "Realizing authentic scientific learning through the adaptation of scientific practice," in K. Tobin and B. Fraser (Eds.), *International Handbook of Science Education*, Kluwer, Dordrecht, NL, (1997).
- French, M., Invention and Evolution. Design in Nature and Engineering (2nd ed.), Cambridge Press, Cambridge, England, (1994).
- Full, R.J., "Using biological Inspiration to build artificial life that locomotes," in T. Gomi (Ed.), International Conference on Conceptual Modeling, Springer, Yokohama, Japan, (2001).
- Geim, A.K., S.V. Dubonos, I.V. Grigorieva, K.S. Novoselov, A.A. Zhukov, and S.Y. Shapoval, "Microfabricated adhesive mimicking gecko foot-hair," *Nature Materials*, Vol. 2, (2003), pp. 461–463.
- Goel, A., "Design, analogy, and creativity," *IEEE Expert: Intelligent Systems and Their Applications*, Vol. 12, (1997), pp. 62–70.
- Goel, A., and S. Bhatta, "Use of design patterns in analogy-based design," Advanced Engineering Informatics, Vol. 18, (2004), pp. 85–94.

- Goel, A., S. Rugaber, and S. Vattam, "Structure, behavior and function of complex systems: The Structure-Behavior-Function modeling language," *Artificial Intelligence for Engineering*, Design, Analysis and Manufacturing, Vol. 23, (2009), pp. 23–35, 2009.
- Goel, A., and E. Stroulia, "Functional device models and model-based diagnosis in adaptive design," Artificial Intelligence for Engineering, Design, Analysis and Manufacturing, Vol. 10, (1996), pp. 355–370.
- Goldman, D.I., T.S. Chen, D.M. Dudek, and R.J. Full, "Dynamics of rapid vertical climbing in a cockroach reveals a template," *Journal of Experimental Biology*, Vol. 209, (2006), pp. 2990–3000.
- Gosline, J.M., P.A. Guerette, C.S. Ortlepp, and K.N. Savage, "The mechanical design of spider silks: From fibroin sequence to mechanical function," *Journal of Experimental Biology*, Vol. 202, (1999), pp. 3295–3303.
- Gross, M., and E, Do, "Drawing analogies—supporting creative architectural design with visual references," in M.-L. Maher and J. Gero (Eds.), 3rd International Conference on Computational Models of Creative Design, University of Sydney, Sydney, (1995), pp. 37–58.
- Handelsman, J., D. Ebert-May, R. Beichner, P. Bruns, A. Chang, R. DeHaan, J. Gentile, S. Lauffer, J. Stewart, S.M. Tilghman, and W.B. Wood, "Scientific teaching," *Science*, Vol. 304, (2004), pp. 521–522.
- Helms, M., S. Vattam, and A. Goel, "Biologically inspired design: Process and products" Design Studies, Vol. 30, (2009), pp. 606–622.
- Helms, M., S. Vattam, and A. Goel, "The effects of functional modeling on understanding complex biological systems," in Press, 2010 ASME Conference on Design Theory and Methods, Montreal, Canada, August, (2010).
- Helms, M., S. Vattam, A.K. Goel, J. Yen, and M. Weissburg, "Problem-driven and solution-driven design: Twin processes of biologically inspired design," in *Proceedings of ACADIA-2008*, (2008).
- Hmelo, C., Holton, D., and J.L. Kolodner, "Designing to learn about complex systems," Journal of Learning Sciences, Vol. 9, (2000), pp. 247–298.
- Jacobsen, M.J., and U. Wilensky, "Complex systems in education: Scientific and educational importance and implications for the learning sciences," *Journal of Learning Science*, Vol. 15, (2006), pp. 11–34.
- Kazerounian, K., and S. Foley, "Barriers to creativity in engineering education: A study of instructors and students perceptions," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, Vol. 129, (2007), pp. 761–767.
- Kozma, R.B., "The use of multiple representations and the social construction of understanding in chemistry," in M.J. Jacobsen and R.B. Kozma (Eds.), *Innovations in Science and Mathematics Education*, Erlbaum, Mahwah, NJ, (2000), pp. 11–46.
- Lave, J., and E. Wenger, Situated Learning. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (1991).
- Lee, H., B.P. Lee, and P.B. Messersmith, "A reversible wet/dry adhesive inspired by mussels and geckos," *Nature*, Vol. 448, (2007), pp. 344–348.
- Li, Chen, P.B. Umbanhowar, H. Komsuoglu, D.E. Koditschek, and D.I. Goldman, "Sensitive dependence of the motion of a legged robot on granular media," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 106, (2009), pp. 3029–3034.
- Lin, A., and M.A. Meyers, "Growth and structure in abalone shell," *Materials Science and Engineering*. *A*, Vol. 390, (2005), pp. 27–41.
- Mostow, J., "Design by derivational analogy: Issues in the automated replay of design plans," Artificial Intelligence, Vol. 40, (1989), pp. 119–184
- Nakrani, S., and C. Tovey, "On honey bees and dynamic server allocation in Internet hosting centers," *Adaptive Behavior*, Vol. 12, (2004), pp. 223–240.
- National Academy of Sciences, National Academy of Engineering, and Institute of Medicine, Facilitating Interdisciplinary Research, (2005), http://books.nap.edu/catalog/11153.html
- Noyes, J., "QWERTY—The immortal keyboard," *Computing and Control Engineering Journal*, Vol. 9, (1998), pp. 117–122.
- Nelson, B.A., "Encouraging collaboration between engineers and biologists in innovative design," CASEE Postdoctoral Fellow Final Report, (2008).

- Nelson, B.A., "The impact of exposure to biologically-inspired design on environmental ethics of undergraduate engineering students," ASEE Annual Conference, Austin, TX, (2009).
- Nelson, B., J. Yen, J.O. Wilson, and D. Rosen, "Refined metrics for measuring ideation effectiveness," Design Studies, Vol. 30, (2009), pp. 737–743.
- Nersessian, N., "Model-based reasoning in conceptual change," in L. Magnani, N.J. Nersessian, and P. Thagard (Eds.), *Model-Based Reasoning in Scientific Discovery*, Plenum Press, NY, (1999), pp. 5–22.
- Nersessian, N.J., "The cognitive basis of model-based reasoning in science," in P. Carruthers, S. Stich, M. Siegal (Eds.), *The Cognitive Basis of Science*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2002), pp. 133–153.
- Norton, B., Sustainability: A Philosophy of Adaptive Ecosystem Management, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, (2005).
- Olds, B.M., B.M. Moskal, and R.L. Miller, "Assessment in engineering education: Evolution, approaches and collaborations," *Journal of Engineering Education*, Vol. 94, (2005), pp. 13–25.

Pahl, G., and W. Beitz, Engineering Design: A Systematic Approach. Springer-Verlag, London, (1999).

- Palincsar, A., "Social constructivist perspectives on teaching and learning," Annual Review of Psychology, Vol. 49, (1998), pp. 345–375.
- Papert, S., "Situating constructionism," in I. Harel and S. Papert (Eds.), Constructionism, Ablex Publishing Company, Norwood, NJ, (1991), pp. 1–11.
- Prabhakar, S., and A. Goel, "Functional modeling for enabling adaptive design of devices for new environments," Artificial Intelligence in Engineering, Vol. 12, (1998), pp. 417–444.
- "Project Kaleidoscope Volume IV: What works, what matters, what lasts. Approaches to assessing 21st century pedagogies," *Science Magazine*, Vol. 304, (2004), pp. 521–522.
- Purcell, A.T., and J.S. Gero, "Design and other types of fixation," *Design Studies*, Vol. 17, (1996), pp. 363–383.
- Qian, L., and J.S. Gero, "Function–behavior–structure paths and their role in analogy-based design," Artificial Intelligence for Engineering, Design, Analysis and Manufacturing, Vol. 10, (1996), pp. 289–312.
- Sarkar, P., and A. Chakrabarti, "The effect of representation of triggers on design outcomes," Artificial Intelligence for Engineering, Design, Analysis and Manufacturing, Vol. 22, No. 2, (2008).
- Savery, J., and T. Duffy, "Problem based learning: An instructional model and its constructivist framework," in B.G. Wilson (Ed.), *Designing Constructivist Learning Environments*, Educational Technology Publications, Englewood Cliffs, (1995), pp. 135–148.
- Simon, H., Sciences of the Artificial Mind, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, (1969).
- Schoen, D., The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action, Basic Books, New York, (1983).
- Schild, K., C. Herstatt, and C. Luthje, *How to Use Analogies for Breakthrough Innovations*, Technical University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, Vol. 63, (2004), pp. 495–508.
- Spagna, J.C., D.I. Goldman, P.C. Lin, D.E., Koditschek, and R.J. Full, "Distributed mechanical feedback in arthropods and robots simplifies control of rapid running on challenging terrain," *Bioinspiration and Biomimetics*, Vol. 2, (2007), pp. 9–18.
- Swanson, B.O., T.A. Blackledge, J. Beltrán, and C.Y. Hayashi, "Variation in the material properties of spider dragline silk across species," *Applied Physics. A, Materials Science and Processing*, Vol. 82, (2006), pp. 213–218.
- Ullman, D., The Mechanical Design Process (3rd ed.), McGraw-Hill, New York, (2003).
- van Duren, LA, and J.J. Videler, "Escape from viscosity: The kinematics and hydrodynamics of copepod foraging and escape swimming," *Journal of Experimental Biology*, Vol. 206, (2003), pp. 269–279.
- Vattam, S., M. Helms and A. Goel, "Biologically-inspired innovation in engineering design: A cognitive study," Technical report, Graphics, Visualization and Usability Center, Georgia Institute of Technology, GIT-GVU-07-07, (2007).
- Vattam, S., M. Helms, and A. Goel, "Biologically inspired design: A macrocognitive account," Proceedings of the 2010 ASME Conference on Design Theory and Methods, Montreal, Canada, (August 2010a).

- Vattam, S., B. Wiltgen, M. Helms, A. Goel, and J. Yen, "DANE: Fostering creativity in and through biologically inspired design," Proceedings of the First International Conference on Design Creativity. Kobe, Japan, (2010b).
- Vattam, S., M. Helms and A. Goel. A content account of creative analogies in biologically inspired design. AI for engineering design, *Analysis and Manufacturing*, Special Issue on Biologically Inspired Design, 24: 467–481, (October 2010c).
- Vincent, J.F.V., "Stealing ideas from nature," in S. Pellegrino (Ed.), Deployable Structures, Springer, New York, (2002), pp. 51–58.
- Vincent, J.F.V., O.A. Bogatyreva, N.R. Bogatyrev, A. Bowyer, and A.-K. Pahl, "Biomimetics: Its practice and theory," *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, Vol. 3, (2006), pp. 471–482.
- Vincent, J.F., and D.L. Mann, "Systematic technology transfer from biology to engineering," *Philosophical Transactions, Series A. Mathematical, Physical, and Engineering Sciences*, Vol. 360, (2002), pp. 159–173.
- Vogel, S., Cats' Paws and Catapults, W.W. Norton and Company, New York, (1998).
- Vogel, S., Comparative Biomechanics: Life's Physical World, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, (2005).
- Yen, J., and J.R. Strickler, "Advertisement and concealment in the plankton: What makes a copepod hydrodynamically conspicuous?" *Invertebrate Biology*, Vol. 115, (1996), pp. 191–205.
- Yen, J., and M.J. Weissburg, "Perspectives on biologically inspired design: Introduction to the collected contributions," *Bioinspiration and Biomimetics*, Vol. 2, (2007), doi:10.1088/1748-3190/2/4/ E01.
- Yeom, S.W., and I.K. Oh, "A biomimetic jellyfish robot based on ionic polymer metal composite actuators," *Smart Materials and Structures*, Vol. 18, (2009), p. 085002.
- Zhao, F., and M.L. Maher, "Using analogical reasoning to design buildings," *Engineering with Computers*, Vol. 4, (1988), pp. 107–119.